

Literature Review:

The Nature of the Relationship between Traumatic Events in People's Lives and Homelessness

A Literature Review by the Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health for Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health Service and VincentCare Victoria

31 August 2012





This literature review has been prepared for Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health Service, and VincentCare Victoria. It was funded by the Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health Service, VincentCare Victoria and the Helen McPherson Trust.

This Report has been prepared by Associate Professor Meaghan O'Donnell, Dr Tracey Varker, and Andrea Phelps.

© Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health 2012

The Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health Level 1, 340 Albert St East Melbourne Victoria 3002, Australia

Further information concerning this report is available from:

Associate Professor Meaghan O'Donnell

Australian Centre for Posttraumatic Mental Health

The University of Melbourne

Phone: (+61 3) 9936 5135

Fax: (+61 3) 9936 5199

Email: mod@unimelb.edu.au



Table of Contents

Executive Summary	1
ntroduction	6
Literature Review Scope	8
Literature Review Methodology	9
Defining Trauma: General Overview	10
What Types of Traumatic Events Are Experienced by People who Experience Long-term Homelessness?	12
What Mental Health Disorders are Prevalent Amongst People Experiencing Homelessness?	16
Trauma and homelessness	16
Other mental health disorders and homelessness	19
What are the Risk Factors that Contribute to Recurring Homelessness after the Experience of Trauma?	22
Risk factors for developing PTSD following exposure to trauma	22
Risk factors for experiencing homelessness	22
Risk factors for chronic homelessness	25
What is the Impact of Trauma Exposure and Resulting Mental Health Problems upon Homelessness?	27
What are the Barriers Experienced by People who Experience Homelessness in Receiving Mental Health Interventions?	29
Working with People Experiencing Homelessness: A Trauma-informed Practice Model	33
Trauma-informed care (TIC)	33
The scientific evidence related to TIC	
Corroborative evidence related to TIC	35
Conclusion	36
References	37



Executive Summary

The importance of understanding the impact of trauma is increasingly recognised amongst services working with people who experience homelessness. This review aims to present the current state of knowledge on the nature of the relationship between exposure to traumatic events in people's lives and the experience of homelessness. It highlights areas that are particularly relevant to the development of a framework for trauma-informed practice for agencies that work with people experiencing homelessness. In conducting this review, specific criteria have been applied to the literature to ensure that this is a methodologically robust review. This executive summary provides an overview of the literature review for specific questions developed in consultation with Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health Service, and VincentCare Victoria. References for all of the information that is presented below can be found in the body of this literature review.

Defining a traumatic event

- In this review, a traumatic event is defined as one where an individual is confronted
 with actual or threatened death, serious injury or sexual violation, or they are
 exposed to the death, injury or suffering of others. In the case of childhood trauma,
 this includes witnessing these events as they occur to others (especially primary
 caregivers) or learning that these events occurred to a parent or primary caregiver.
- People who are exposed to a traumatic event(s) may experience a range of traumatic stress symptoms which include (but are not limited to) intrusive memories about the event, behavioural and emotional avoidance, high levels of arousal (such as increased startle and hypervigilance), sadness, anxiety and guilt. For some people, traumatic events that occur in childhood may result in pervasive and long-lasting difficulties. Events that occur in childhood that are repetitive or prolonged, involve direct harm and/or neglect by caregivers, and occur at developmentally vulnerable times for the child, can give rise to complex psychological, social and behavioural problems in adulthood.

Types of traumatic events experienced by people who experience longterm homelessness



- High rates of exposure to traumatic events among people who experience homelessness are well documented. Australian studies have found that between 91% and 100% of people experiencing homelessness have experienced at least one major trauma in their lives. In comparison, 57% of the general Australian population report one major traumatic event in their life.
- Few rigorous studies have investigated the prevalence of childhood trauma in people who experience long-term homelessness. The few published, well-designed studies suggest that adults who experience homelessness have experienced high rates of childhood trauma including sexual abuse (ranging from 23% to 84%), and physical abuse (70% to 77%).
- The types of traumatic events that are particularly prevalent within adult homeless populations include physical abuse, witnessing someone being badly injured or killed, rape and sexual abuse.
- In summary, people who experience homelessness have often experienced traumatic events in their childhood/adolescence. They are also at increased risk for experiencing traumatic events during their periods of homelessness.

Prevalent mental health disorders

- The vast majority of people who experience homelessness also experience at least one psychiatric disorder, and the prevalence of psychiatric disorder among adults experiencing homelessness is much higher than in representative community samples. In terms of Axis 1 disorders, mood disorders, psychotic disorders (i.e., schizophrenia and bipolar disorder) and trauma-related disorders (e.g., posttraumatic stress disorder [PTSD]) have all been found to be over-represented amongst adults experiencing homelessness.
- An Australian survey of men and women experiencing homelessness found that 73% of men and 81% of women met criteria for at least one mental disorder in the past year (12 month prevalence) and 40% of men and 50% of women had at least two mental disorders.
- Psychiatric disorder often precedes homelessness, but there is also evidence that some people become mentally ill as a result of experiencing chronic homelessness.



- Surprisingly few studies have assessed PTSD among people experiencing homelessness, and the studies that have been conducted fail to show a consistent picture.
- In the only Australian peer-reviewed study to examine PTSD prevalence rates in adults experiencing homelessness, it was found that 79% of the sample met criteria for a lifetime diagnosis of PTSD, while the 12 month prevalence of PTSD was 41% (PTSD present in the last 12 months).
- In the general population, males are less likely than females to develop PTSD or depression following traumatic events, but more likely to develop substance use disorder (including alcohol use disorders). Therefore it might be expected that for people experiencing homelessness, women would have a higher prevalence of PTSD than men. However, this has not been addressed in the literature, suggesting a pressing need for epidemiological research examining trauma exposure and PTSD, particularly in men experiencing homelessness.
- When PTSD occurs in the context of homelessness it is also associated with high levels of comorbidity with other psychiatric disorders. For example, in an Australian study of adults experiencing homelessness, of those who met criteria for current PTSD, 55% screened positive for psychosis; 69% scored in the severe or extremely severe range for depression; 50% scored in the severe or extremely severe range for anxiety; 63% screened positive for harmful or hazardous drinking or alcohol dependence; and 88% screened positive for substance use, probable abuse or dependence.

Risk factors that contribute to recurring homelessness after the experience of trauma

- Studies in non-homeless samples report that characteristics about the individual
 increase their risk for developing PTSD after exposure to a traumatic event. These
 include, previous psychiatric history, prior trauma history, family history of mental
 illness, and early childhood adversity. Other factors such as a low level of education,
 female gender, and personality traits have been identified as increasing risk for
 PTSD. Importantly, these characteristics can increase risk for becoming homeless.
- On the macro level, risk factors for homelessness include poverty, social exclusion, poor education and long-term unemployment. Familial factors include family dysfunction, family violence and sexual abuse, childhood institutionalisation and poor family and social support. Individual attributes such as mental health problem, physical or mental disability and coping ability also play a key role.



• In one of the only longitudinal studies to examine risk factors of long-term homelessness, the most important predictors were: older age, past or current unemployment, a lack of earned income, poorer coping skills, less adequate family support, a history of substance abuse and an arrest history..

Impact of trauma exposure and resulting mental health problems upon homelessness

- There is not much literature that investigates the relationship between trauma
 exposure and mental health problems. The literature that does exist suggests that
 trauma, PTSD, substance abuse and physical and mental illness often occur before,
 during and after periods of homelessness, but the causal pathways and nature of
 the relationships among these factors remain in need of systematic empirical study.
- Very few studies have investigated the relationship between PTSD and homelessness within the context of time (i.e. which occurs first), but there is some evidence to suggest that the development of PTSD commonly precedes the onset of homelessness.

Barriers experienced by people who experience homelessness in receiving mental health interventions

- Despite high levels of need, many people who experience homelessness do not receive adequate or appropriate physical or mental health care.
- Systematic barriers include the deinstitutionalisation and an apparent lack of a
 responsive community mental healthcare system to respond to the needs of people
 with severe mental illness; the general inaccessibility of healthcare to people who
 experience homelessness; and the pressures of extreme poverty such as the
 necessity to obtain food over healthcare.
- Barriers can also come from providers who are reluctant to treat clients experiencing homelessness, and from clients who are distrustful about the providers and authorities.
- Practical problems can hamper efforts to engage with mental health services, such as lack of transportation and the cost of using public transport.
- People experiencing homelessness with mental health problems are less likely than other mental health consumers to experience continuity of care.



 Difficult client behaviour, such as behaviours related to active substance use, and difficulties with engagement can sometimes hinder efforts by workers to promote recovery.

Working with people who experience homelessness: A trauma informed practice model

- Currently, few programs serving individuals experiencing homelessness directly address the specialised needs of trauma survivors.
- Some programs that service clients who experience homelessness are developing trauma-informed services. These services recognise the significance of trauma exposure in understanding client problems.
- A consensus based definition of Trauma-informed Care (TIC) has been developed by Hopper, Bassuk and Oliver (2010). The themes encompassed by this definition include trauma awareness, emphasis on safety, opportunities to rebuild control, and strengths-based approach.



Introduction

Every night, around 105,000 Australians experience homelessness [1], and according to the 2006 Census, 20,511 Victorians were recorded as homeless – a 15 per cent increase in the decade from 1996 [2]. Many people who experience homelessness also experience mental disorders. As the Commonwealth Advisory Committee on Homelessness noted in 1998, "Homelessness among people with mental disorders is a multifaceted complex problem for which the causes are numerous and inter-related" (p.11)[3]. Developing a better understanding of the complex needs of those who experience homelessness, in the context of mental illness, and in particular trauma, will play an important role in the development of appropriate services.

Among the population of people that experience homelessness, three general subgroups have been identified. The largest group comprises people whose primary issues are a lack of affordable housing and/or work opportunities. People in this group typically need relatively little support and most of these people return to housing quickly [4]. The second group, which is sometimes referred to as the 'transitional homeless', experience homelessness for more diverse reasons, remain homeless for longer and have greater support needs than the first group [4]. The third group consists of people who have remained homeless for long periods of time, often cycling between the street, institutions and poor quality temporary accommodation [4]. Although this group is relatively small, overseas research has indicated that they consume a disproportionate amount of health and justice resources [5]. People in this group are often described as experiencing longterm homelessness or chronic homelessness. An examination of homelessness in inner Melbourne found that long-term homelessness (12 months or longer) was experienced by 70% of people aged between 19-24 who had experienced homelessness, and 85% of people 25 or older who experienced homelessness [6]. For this group, it is now widely understood that affordable housing alone is unlikely to be an adequate or lasting solution to homelessness [7]. This third group is the primary focus of this literature review, although at times we report information from studies that have included other homeless subgroups.

Studies, both in Australia and internationally, consistently document that people who experience homelessness also report disproportionate exposure to traumatic events, and some people will go on to experience traumatic stress reactions. However, traumatic



stress reactions are not the only psychiatric issues facing people who experience homelessness; many people experiencing homelessness also suffer from depression, substance abuse [8] and severe mental illness [9]. These issues leave individuals even more vulnerable to further exposure to traumatic events [10]. In Australia, research on the relationship between homelessness and trauma is particularly limited. More research that addresses this gap will assist support services in meeting the needs of those who experience chronic homelessness.

This literature review draws upon the international and national literature to build a detailed understanding of the relationship between traumatic events in people's lives and homelessness.



Literature Review Scope

This literature review is part of the Trauma and Homelessness Initiative. The questions that will be addressed by the literature review were developed by the project's reference group whose membership includes representatives from Sacred Heart Mission, Mind Australia, Inner South Community Health Service and VincentCare Victoria. The key question to be addressed is:

What is the nature of the relationship between traumatic events in people's lives and homelessness?

While literature that addresses this specific question is somewhat limited, there is an extensive trauma literature that can be used to inform the question, giving rise to the following subsidiary questions:

- What are the types of traumatic events that are experienced by people who also experience long-term homelessness?
- What are the mental health disorders that are prevalent amongst people experiencing homelessness?
- What are the risk factors that contribute to recurring homelessness after the experience of trauma?
- What is the impact of trauma exposure and resulting mental health problems upon homelessness?
- What are the barriers experienced by people who experience homelessness in receiving mental health interventions?
- What is the evidence to support a trauma-informed practice model?

Within this agenda, this literature review has primarily been written to:

- review the existing body of empirical literature related to the key question
- review the grey literature related to the key question
- assist in the development of a research project that investigates the nature of the relationship between traumatic events in people's lives and their state of homelessness
- assist in the development of a trauma-informed framework that will guide practice and service delivery of agencies who work with people who are homeless.



Literature Review Methodology

An extensive search of databases was conducted using the search terms: "homeless", "homelessness", "stress", "trauma", "PTSD", "mental*health", "barriers*care", "mental*health*intervention" and "trauma*informed*service". The literature was sourced using standard scientific databases, notably Medline, Web of Science and PsychInfo. This search yielded 674 research articles.

On the basis of information contained in the abstracts, articles related to the key question were then selected for inclusion in the review. Where possible, literature involving Australian people experiencing homelessness was utilised, and in the absence of this, research from other similar countries such as the USA and the UK was used. In cases where there was an absence of literature relating to trauma and homelessness, other trauma literature (such as interpersonal violence research), was drawn upon.

Priority was given to high quality studies including systematic reviews and randomised controlled trials. The process resulted in a primary group of 142 articles which were matched to the scope of this review, in terms of context and content. As a quality control process, the first author cross-checked 10 per cent of these primary articles against the review scope. To ensure that the review was comprehensive, after the initial draft of the review was completed, each of the primary and secondary articles was examined once again, to ensure that all key findings were included.

To supplement the literature review, a search of the grey literature (including government reports, research working papers and other authoritative reports) and publically available website resources was also conducted. The aim of this search was to identify any reports or papers in Australia and internationally which have reported on the nature of the relationship between traumatic events in people's lives and homelessness. This serves to ensure that the review captures research and service development initiatives which exist outside of the scientific literature. The same key words were used as for the scientific literature review. In addition, during consultation that occurred prior to this literature review, the authors were provided with several reports and documents from the Sacred Heart Mission, VincentCare Victoria, Inner South Community Health Service and Mind Australia. Relevant information from these reports was drawn upon in this review. Combined, these strategies contributed to a thorough and robust methodology for this literature review.



Defining Trauma: General Overview

In this review, we will be defining a traumatic experience as one where an individual is confronted with actual or threatened death, serious injury or sexual violation, or they are exposed to the death, injury or suffering of others [11]. In the case of childhood trauma this includes witnessing these events as they occur to others (especially primary caregivers) or learning that these events occurred to a parent or primary caregiver. Examples of traumatic events include serious injury, physical or sexual assault, kidnapping, torture, being threatened with a weapon, and neglect during childhood.

This definition differentiates traumatic events from stressful events. There is an extensive literature exploring how traumatic events differ from other stressors in their nature (quality) and intensity (quantity). Essentially, the word trauma means wound, and a traumatic event is one that has the potential to result in a "psychic wound" or psychological injury. While an in-depth discussion about this topic is beyond the scope of this review, there are a number of review papers which the interested reader may find useful [e.g. 12, 13, 14].

People who are exposed to a traumatic event(s) may experience a range of traumatic stress symptoms which include, intrusive memories about the event, behavioural and emotional avoidance, high levels of arousal (such as increased startle and hypervigilance), sadness, anxiety and guilt. PTSD is a disorder that occurs following exposure to a traumatic event, where the person was confronted with actual or threatened death or serious injury, or a threat to the physical integrity of oneself or others. The person's response must also involve intense fear, helplessness or horror, and the person must experience a constellation of symptoms that includes intrusive memories about the event, behavioural and emotional avoidance, and high levels of arousal [11].

Single occurrences of a trauma are known as *Type I* trauma [15]. For some people, especially those who experience events that are interpersonal, prolonged and/or repeated nature (e.g. imprisonment, torture),, the impact of traumatic events can be pervasive and long-lasting. This type of trauma is often referred to as *Type II* trauma [15]. This is particularly the case for childhood traumatic events that are repetitive or



prolonged, involve direct harm and/or neglect by caregivers, and occur at developmentally vulnerable times for the child. These types of traumatic events can give rise to complex psychological, social and behavioural problems in adulthood. They can lead to lasting changes that interfere with a person's sense of safety, ability to self-regulate, sense of self, perception of control and self-efficacy, and interpersonal relationships [16].

People who have experienced *Type II* trauma present with a constellation of characteristic features alongside the core PTSD symptoms. These features can include: impaired emotional control; self-destructive and impulsive behaviour; impaired relationships with others; hostility; social withdrawal; feeling constantly threatened; dissociation; somatic complaints; feelings of ineffectiveness, shame, despair or hopelessness; feeling permanently damaged; and a loss of prior beliefs and assumptions about their safety and the trustworthiness of others [17]. Issues of chronic self harm and/or suicidal ideation are more common in this group. People exhibiting this constellation of features are often referred as having complex PTSD [18] or Disorders of Extreme Stress Not Otherwise Specified (DESNOS: APA; 1994).

In the community, the majority of people who experience traumatic events recover over time. That is, the majority of individuals are resilient to the impacts of trauma exposure. In a significant minority of people, however, traumatic stress symptoms increase in severity and develop into psychiatric disorders which require treatment. The factors that cause some individuals to be more vulnerable to the effects of exposure to traumatic events, and others to be vulnerable to homelessness, will be discussed in detail, in the section 'What are the risk factors that contribute to recurring homelessness after the experience of trauma'.



What Types of Traumatic Events Are Experienced by People who Experience Long-term Homelessness?

A high incidence of trauma among people who experience homelessness is well documented, particularly in the US [19-21]. Studies have confirmed similarly high rates of trauma among people who experience homelessness in Australia [22-24]. Buhrich, Hodder & Teeson (2000) found that all women and 91% of males who experienced homelessness, in a large sample from inner Sydney, reported at least one major trauma in their lives and many reported multiple traumas [22]. Similarly, Taylor and Sharpe (2008) found that 98% of their sample from inner Sydney had experienced at least one traumatic event in their lifetime, and 93% had experienced two or more [25]. In comparison, 57% of the general Australian population report one lifetime trauma and 32% report two or more traumas [26]. In this section, we will review the literature related to the types of traumatic events that are experienced by people who experience long-term homelessness, and the frequency with which they experience such events.

In terms of the types of traumatic events that are experienced in the lifetime of those who experience homelessness, one US study found that over two-thirds of women reported an experience of physical abuse [27] in their lifetime. A study of people experiencing homelessness in inner Sydney found that half the women and 10% of men reported they had been raped [22] in their lifetime. For men the experience of rape usually occurred in an institutional setting. In the inner Sydney sample 57% of men and 61% of women were seriously attacked or assaulted in their lifetime, while 55% of men and 55% of women witnessed someone being badly injured or killed.

More often than not, people who experience long-term homelessness have experienced some form of childhood trauma [22, 28, 29]. However, very few studies have investigated the prevalence of childhood trauma using rigorous methodology. One study which did have a good methodology found that 52% of people experiencing homelessness experienced childhood trauma. However, the authors did not specify whether this referred to physical or sexual abuse, or both. Differences in the prevalence of childhood trauma between males and females were not assessed in this study [28]. In another well designed study it was found that 70% of men and 77% of women



experienced physical abuse in childhood, while 64% of men and 84% of women experienced sexual abuse [30]. Interestingly, a study which compared childhood trauma in women experiencing homelessness with housed women receiving financial aid and housing assistance, found that both groups experienced high levels of childhood trauma with no significant differences in prevalence between the groups [31]. This may suggest that childhood trauma itself may not be a barrier to securing stable accommodation.

In the Journey to Social Inclusion (J2SI) study [4] a sample of people experiencing longterm homelessness in Melbourne was examined. Eighty-seven per cent of participants had experienced childhood trauma, and the average age at which they first experienced a traumatic event was 12.7 years. A key indicator of the extent of adverse childhood experiences was growing up in the out-of-home care system (e.g., foster, group or institutional care). In the J2SI study, 40% of participants reported that they had spent time in the Child Protection system when they were growing up [4]. Other research has shown that people who are involved in the Child Protection system typically grow up in homes where parental substance abuse and family violence are common [32, 33]. Almost all of the J2SI participants (95%) had experienced significant trauma. When the researchers looked at specific types of trauma, it was found that: 52% of participants had experienced sexual abuse (66% of women versus 36% of men); 75% had experienced physical assault in their lifetime; 12% had experienced physical assault in the previous six months; 67% had witnessed someone being badly injured; 57% had been threatened with a weapon or held captive; and 54% had been involved in a life threatening accident [4].

People who experience homelessness also report traumatic experiences during homeless episodes. Living without a stable, safe residence and having limited financial and social resources, people experiencing homelessness are vulnerable to exposure to a variety of traumatic events. A study of older people experiencing homelessness in New York found that nearly half were robbed and over one-quarter were physically assaulted in the previous year [34]. Another US study found that in the previous two months, 18% of a sample currently experiencing homelessness had been threatened with a weapon, 16% had been beaten and 6% had been sexually assaulted [35]. People experiencing homelessness are at greater risk of violence than those who are housed [7, 36], with international research suggesting that violence, especially sexual violence, is more



prevalent among homeless women [37, 38]. This is of particular importance given that violence may increase the likelihood of prolonged or chronic homelessness [39].

Factors which may render people experiencing homelessness vulnerable to physical assault include alcohol and drug intoxication, the seeking-out of illicit substances, cognitive impairment and physical frailty [22]. Not surprisingly, fears about personal safety and security are common [25]. In some circumstances this fear may itself contribute to further trauma exposure. Researchers have found that some women seek increased safety through a male partnership that may ultimately lead to violence [40]. In addition, people experiencing homelessness are vulnerable to injury. A survey of homeless adults in the US found that traumatic injuries (many of which resulted from interpersonal violence) were most frequently reported as the reason for last visiting a hospital emergency room [41]. This accounted for 39% of all the annual emergency room visits by people experiencing homelessness, and surpassed all other reasons. Research from the US has also found that people who "sleep rough" (i.e., sleep on the streets) are significantly more likely to experience chronic health problems and have a mortality rate three to four times higher than that of the general population [42].

The Inner South 2009 Client Survey found:

- clients reported an average of eight life events that were reflective of trauma and associated with difficulties
- assault had been experienced by 33.7% of clients, family violence by 30.6%, abuse by 10.7%, sexual abuse was reported by 6%, rape by 0.3%, and war and famine was experienced by 0.4%

The Sacred Heart Mission 2010 Client Survey found:

- 75% of respondents said they had a history of trauma
- trauma occurred before homelessness for 10% of clients, after homelessness for 10%, and both before and after for 55%

In the general community, men are more likely than women to experience traumatic events [43, 44], and in particular non-sexual violent assault (such as being shot or stabbed, mugged/threatened with a weapon or beaten badly) and other accidental injury [9, 43-45]. A number of studies have found that homeless women experience higher



rates of assault than their housed counterparts [46-48], although this finding needs replication. Past research has suggested that homeless women are significantly more likely to be physically assaulted than men [35, 49]. However, in one of the only studies that made a direct comparison there were no statistically significant differences between women and men in reported rates of assault. Women were, however, more likely to experience sexual violence [50]. Importantly though, in this study respondents were asked to report assault within the last 30 days, whereas most other studies included a wider time frame.

As will be discussed in the section 'Mental health disorders that are prevalent amongst people experiencing homelessness', people experiencing homelessness have a higher prevalence of psychiatric disorders compared to the general Australian population. Unfortunately, poor mental health also increases the risk of exposure to traumatic experiences, with schizophrenia [50], more severe psychotic symptoms [35], a history of psychiatric hospitalisation [20] and general psychological distress [51], all having been associated with violent assault of people experiencing homelessness.



What Mental Health Disorders are Prevalent Amongst People Experiencing Homelessness?

Research has found that the vast majority of people who experience homelessness also experience at least one psychiatric disorder [22, 52], and that the prevalence of psychiatric disorders among homeless adults is much higher than in representative community samples [53]. In this section, we examine the prevalence of posttraumatic reactions amongst those who experience homelessness, and the most prevalent mental health disorders.

Psychiatric disorder often precedes homelessness [54], but there is also evidence that some people become mentally ill as a result of experiencing chronic homelessness [55]. Consistently, research has found that mood disorders [56], psychotic disorders (i.e., schizophrenia and bipolar disorder) [57] and trauma-related disorders (e.g., posttraumatic stress disorder) [22] have all been found to be over-represented amongst adults experiencing homelessness. There is also a body of literature that has examined the level of comorbid psychiatric disorder amongst those who have experienced traumatic events, and this research is discussed below.

Trauma and homelessness

There are a number of psychiatric disorders that can develop in the aftermath of exposure to traumatic events. Posttraumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is specifically linked to experiencing a traumatic event, and as such, is the disorder that most of the scientific literature has focussed on. There is, however, increasing awareness that other disorders can develop after trauma, including major depressive episode (depression), anxiety disorders and substance use disorders (such as alcohol use disorders).

Evidence suggests that people who experience homelessness are at elevated risk of experiencing PTSD. PTSD is made up of three clusters of symptoms, including recurring and distressing recollection of the event (e.g., intrusive memories or nightmares), avoidance of reminders of the event (e.g., avoiding people with characteristics similar to an assailant), and increased arousal (e.g., increased heart rate or sweating when reminded of the trauma, and poor sleeping). These symptoms are very distressing and can lead to significant levels of social and functional impairment.



Given the high incidence of exposure to multiple traumatic events in the homeless population, one might expect a high prevalence of PTSD [58]. Furthermore, many of the factors which increase the risk of PTSD (e.g., a history of childhood trauma, history of psychiatric disorder, inadequate support systems, low socioeconomic level) are often found in people who experience homelessness [30, 58]. However, surprisingly few studies have assessed PTSD among people experiencing homelessness. Furthermore, the studies that have been conducted fail to show a consistent picture. For example, two international studies which examined lifetime prevalence rates of PTSD (PTSD present at any time during lifetime) in women experiencing homelessness, reported a range from 34% - 36.1% [30, 59]. The only study that examined the one-month prevalence rate (PTSD present in the past month) for women found a rate of 17.4% [59]. Only one study could be found which examined the lifetime prevalence rate of PTSD for men, reporting a rate of 18% [30]. No studies examining the one-month prevalence rate for men experiencing homelessness could be identified.

In the only Australian peer-reviewed study to examine prevalence rates in adults experiencing homelessness, it was found that 79% of the sample (both males and females) met criteria for a lifetime diagnosis of PTSD, while the 12 month prevalence of PTSD (PTSD present in the last 12 months) was 41% [25]. These prevalence rates are considerably higher than those observed in the international studies. The variation in the prevalence rates is most likely due to methodological issues, such as the instruments used to measure PTSD. For example, the Australian study allowed PTSD to be diagnosed by either the USA diagnostic criteria [Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-IV); 11] or the international criteria [International Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders (ICD-10); 60], whereas the international studies used DSM-IV criteria alone. Although a breakdown of the prevalence rates for males and females was not reported in the Australian study, it was reported that there were no significant differences in the rates of PTSD between men and women. This finding is similar to that in youths experiencing homelessness, where gender differences in PTSD have not been found [61]. In contrast to the PTSD rates of adults experiencing homelessness, the 12 month prevalence rate of PTSD in the Australian general community is relatively low at 1.5% [26], as is the lifetime PTSD prevalence rate at 5-10% [44].



The VincentCare Homeless and Drug Dependency Trial - Rebuilding Lives (2005) found:

 9% of clients had been previously diagnosed with PTSD, while 25% had been diagnosed with an anxiety disorder and 57% had been diagnosed with depression

In the general population, males are less likely than females to develop PTSD [44] or depression [62] following traumatic events, but more likely to develop substance use disorder [63]. In a landmark study of the effects of previous exposure to trauma, it was found that trauma-exposed women are more likely to develop PTSD, even when the type of traumatic event is controlled for [58]. In addition, it was found that women's higher risk of PTSD was not attributable to sex differences in history of previous exposure to trauma. Therefore it might be expected that for people experiencing homelessness, women would have a higher prevalence of PTSD than men. However, the literature has fallen short in terms of addressing trauma exposure among homeless men [64]. Instead, the majority of current literature focusses on women or families [e.g. 65, 66, 67]. This highlights a pressing need for epidemiological research examining trauma exposure and PTSD in men experiencing homelessness. This would also allow comparisons to be made between the PTSD prevalence rates for males and females experiencing homelessness.

As discussed in the previous section, people who experience homelessness often experience multiple traumatic events in their lifetime. A study that examined the relationship between types of traumatic events experienced by homeless men and trauma symptoms, found that life threatening illness and witnessing violence were most strongly related to trauma symptom severity [68]. This finding is consistent with other research that has found that those who experience multiple traumatic events have worse long-term outcomes than those who have experienced fewer events [69]. In addition, the number of stressful life events and the presence of a mental health disorder emerged as significant predictors of trauma symptom severity for homeless men [68].

Given the relative dearth of literature related to the prevalence and correlates of PTSD in adult Australians experiencing homelessness, it is important that future research aims to develop a more complete picture of the relationship between these issues.



Other mental health disorders and homelessness

The prevalence of serious psychiatric disorder and substance abuse is high among people experiencing homelessness in many Western cities [70-72]. Common psychiatric diagnoses in this group include major depression, bipolar disorder, schizophrenia and personality disorders.

In a US national survey of people experiencing homelessness, it was found that 39% of respondents had a current mental health disorder, 50% had a current alcohol and/or drug problem, and 23% had concurrent mental health and substance use problems [73]. In comparison, an Australian national survey of people experiencing homelessness, utilising specialist homelessness services, found that 12% of respondents had a current mental health disorder, 19% had a current alcohol and/or drug problem, and 5% had both mental health and substance use problems [74].

A survey of a representative sample of men and women experiencing homelessness in inner Sydney found that 73% of men and 81% of women met criteria for at least one mental disorder in the past year (12 month prevalence) and 40% of men and 50% of women had at least two mental disorders [75]. The prevalence rate of schizophrenia among men and women was 23% and 46%, respectively. The prevalence of any mental disorder was found to be four times higher among homeless men and women in inner Sydney than within the Australian general population. When gender differences were examined, for men in inner Sydney there was a prevalence of 49% for alcohol use disorder, 34% for drug use disorder, 28% for depressive disorder and 22% for anxiety disorder [75]. For women the rates were 15% for alcohol, 44% for drug use, 48% for depressive and 36% for anxiety disorder, respectively. Although mood and anxiety disorders occur commonly in the general Australian population [76], the research suggests that these disorders have a much higher prevalence within the homeless population.

There is also a high level of comorbidity between PTSD and other psychiatric disorders. Comorbidity, the concurrence of two or more psychiatric disorders in the same individual, is gaining increasing attention in the psychiatric literature [72]. In a study of Australian adults experiencing homelessness, of those who met criteria for current PTSD, 55% screened positive for psychosis; 69% scored in the severe or extremely severe range for depression; 50% scored in the severe or extremely severe range for anxiety; 31% met



criteria for a diagnosis of OCD; 56% score in the severe or extremely severe range for stress; 63% screened positive for harmful or hazardous drinking or alcohol dependence; and 88% screened positive for a substance use problem, abuse or dependence [25].

As discussed in the section 'Types of traumatic events that are experienced by people who also experience homelessness', there is research to suggest that people who have schizophrenia and psychosis are more likely to be physically assaulted. A systematic review of the prevalence of schizophrenia in homeless persons found rates ranging from 4-16% and a weighted average of 11% in the ten most methodologically sound studies [77]. A study of people experiencing homelessness in inner Sydney found that those with a history of schizophrenia or any other psychotic disorder were 3.1 times more likely to be physically assaulted than those without such a history [36]. It has been proposed that the relationship between assault and psychosis occurs because the symptoms of psychosis often leads to impaired judgment which in turn affects one's ability to identify risk (thus leading to an increased risk of assault). Furthermore, responding to psychotic symptoms (e.g. auditory hallucinations or other positive symptoms) by talking to oneself and disordered behaviour draw attention to people with psychotic disorders, increasing the likelihood of violence [78].

The People Living with Psychotic Illness 2010 Report found:

 Over half (57.2%) of people with a psychotic illness reported experiencing a distressing or traumatic event in childhood, with 16.1% reporting being sexually abused in childhood

As described earlier, substance abuse and dependence have been associated with trauma and PTSD in people who experience homelessness. However, the relationship between addiction and PTSD is complex. Some researchers have suggested substance abuse may be an antecedent to trauma exposure. Others have suggested that substance abuse is a consequence of PTSD for some, used as a mechanism to cope with the symptoms of the disorder. Similarly, there is a common perception that substance abuse and homelessness are linked, but there is considerable contention about the direction of the relationship [79, 80]. A study of people experiencing homelessness in inner Melbourne found that 15% of the sample had substance abuse problems prior to becoming homeless for the first time, meaning that for most people in



the inner Melbourne sample, other factors caused them to become homeless for the first time [81].

The literature covered in this section highlights the fact that there is a high prevalence of mental health problems amongst those who experience homelessness. There is evidence to suggest that PTSD rates are much higher amongst those who experience homelessness than the general population, however this is an area that requires further research.



What are the Risk Factors that Contribute to Recurring Homelessness after the Experience of Trauma?

Many people experiencing homelessness have also experienced trauma, and people with histories of trauma and mental illness are often at increased risk for losing housing or never gaining adequate stable housing [82]. There is a large body of literature that has examined vulnerability to developing PTSD after trauma exposure, and, quite independently, research has also examined the risk factors associated with homelessness. These two bodies of literature, and any relationships observed between the two, are explored below.

Risk factors for developing PTSD following exposure to trauma

Meta-analyses of studies investigating risk factors for PTSD have identified a number of consistent predictors of the development of PTSD following exposure to trauma. While these meta-analyses include a wide range of traumatic experiences and trauma survivors, their findings are relevant to those who experience trauma and homelessness.

There are a number of individual characteristics that increase the risk for developing PTSD. These include previous psychiatric history, prior trauma history, family history of mental illness, and early childhood adversity [83, 84]. Other individual factors such as a low level of education, female gender, and personality traits have also been identified as increasing the risk of PTSD [83, 84]. One of the most important and modifiable risk factors is social support [85]. The extensive literature on risk factors for PTSD suggests that effective social support, including access to supportive family, friends and work colleagues, can lessen the risk of PTSD [83, 84].

Risk factors for experiencing homelessness

The body of research exploring risk factors for homelessness is not well developed, but there is growing consensus that many interrelated factors may contribute to homelessness [86]. On a macro level, risk factors include poverty, lack of affordable housing, poor education and long-term unemployment. Familial factors may include



family dysfunction (i.e., divorce, mental illness within the family, or conflict), family violence and sexual abuse, childhood institutionalisation and poor family and social support [8, 87, 88]. Individual attributes such as mental health problems (including substance abuse), physical or mental disability and coping ability also play a key role. On a practical level, poor availability of low cost housing, the complexity of the housing system, and the failure of government and community services to provide an adequate safety net for individuals sliding into homelessness may also increase risk [89]. Social exclusion- a term used to refer to the complex compound of disadvantages which can act to marginalise a person in terms of their access to resources and their capacity to be involved in their community [24]- also plays an important role. These streams of sequelae interact with each other, so it is not possible to identify a single cause of, or pathway to, homelessness for any individual.

Poverty has been identified as a core risk factor for homelessness, because welfare benefits and the typically insufficient wages provided by marginal jobs force people to rely on a limited pool of subsidised housing or else experience homelessness [87]. An Australian government report found that of couples with and without children seeking accommodation due to homelessness, most commonly cited eviction or being asked to leave their housing as the main reason for doing so [90]. Being unable to pay the rent is a primary cause of eviction and risk factors associated with being unable to pay the rent include lack of education, lack of work skills, physical or mental disability, substance abuse, minority status and sole support parent status [8, 87].

However, a US survey found that the most common reasons for homelessness reported by men and women living on the street were family related problems such as: marital break-up; family care-givers becoming unwilling or unable to care for a mentally ill or substance abusing family member; escape from a dysfunctional family; or not having a family to turn to for support [88]. Similarly, in Australia, domestic and family violence is a major driver of homelessness, with escaping violence being the most common reason provided by people who seek help from specialist homelessness services [90]. Amongst Australian women who seek assistance from specialist homelessness services, domestic and family violence is the principal cause of homelessness. Fifty-five per cent of women with children and 37% of young single women seek help from specialist homelessness services to escape violence [90]. In a case-control study of female-headed families experiencing homelessness and female-headed housed families, mothers experiencing



homelessness were more likely to have been abused as children, battered as adults, and have fragmented support networks [91].

In addition to suffering from disadvantage, many people who experience homelessness also experience social exclusion. Along with exclusion from housing or employment, they experience exclusion from the fabric of social life [24]. Social exclusion may be understood in terms of two forms: cultural exclusion- i.e. inadequate social participation, lack of social integration and a need for social cohesion and solidarity; and income inequality and material exclusion- i.e. poverty or lack of material resources, with exclusion seen as a product of social inequality derived from economic inequality [24].

Childhood experiences of out-of-home care may increase the risk for homelessness as an adult. Two studies of homeless adults have found that over 15% had experienced out-of-home placement during childhood [92, 93]. A further study found that 46% of adults who experienced homelessness lived in a non-parental placement during childhood, with 20% having lived in an institutional or group placement [94]. However, these results must be treated with caution, given that non-homeless comparison groups were not included in these studies. It is known that young people who have spent many of their childhood years in statutory care face significant challenges when making the transition to independent living [95]. It is also widely recognised that there is a need for services to assist young people to make the transition to independent living following leaving care [96], to mitigate the risk of them experiencing homelessness.

At present however, it is not possible to discern from the literature the extent to which out-of-home placement, in and of itself, leads to increased risk for later homelessness. Factors that lead to out-of-home placement and the nature of the child's experience during out-of-home placement are likely to be of critical importance. In one of the only studies to specifically examine adverse childhood experiences as risk factors for adult homelessness, it was found that these experiences are powerful risk factors for adult homelessness [52]. Specifically, lack of care from a parent during childhood sharply increased the likelihood of subsequent homelessness, as did physical abuse. Perhaps surprisingly, sexual abuse in childhood was not found to have a significant impact in this study. The risk of subsequent homelessness among those who experienced both lack of care and either physical or sexual abuse was dramatically increased compared with people who reported neither of these adversities [52].



A substantial body of literature provides evidence that childhood experiences of physical or sexual assault, and inadequate parental care are also risk factors for negative psychiatric outcomes in adulthood [97-99]. Thus, early childhood adversity may contribute independently to homelessness and poor mental health, but there is also reason to believe that there is an interaction between the two outcomes with each compounding the impact of the other [94, 100]. Furthermore, there may be a gender difference in the relationship between the variables of childhood adversity, homelessness and poor mental health. One study found that boys experiencing chronic homelessness were more likely than homeless girls to have left home and to remain homeless for prolonged periods as a result of childhood abuse and problems with depression [101]. While this was the case for some homeless girls, for many homeless girls traumatic assault and emotional problems such as depression did not occur until after they were homeless and engaged in behaviours such as prostitution, drug use and theft.

Risk factors for chronic homelessness

Very few longitudinal studies of people experiencing chronic homelessness have been published, meaning that the course of homelessness is poorly understood. In one of the only longitudinal studies to examine risk factors for chronic homelessness, Caton [102] interviewed newly homeless single adults admitted to New York City shelters at six month intervals, over a period of 18 months. A longer duration of homelessness was found to be related to older age, past or current unemployment, a lack of earned income, poorer coping skills, less adequate family support, a history of substance abuse and an arrest history. The most important predictors were older age and arrest history.

Further understanding of the risk of experiencing chronic homelessness can be gleaned from studies of homeless onset in which people experiencing homelessness are contrasted with people who have never experienced housing loss. In a study where people experiencing homelessness were matched to a never-homeless sample, North et al [103] found that chronicity of homelessness was associated with symptoms of alcohol use disorder, schizophrenia, antisocial personality disorder and age of drug use disorder onset. This study identifies how the characteristics of people experiencing homelessness



differ from the characteristics of people who have extremely low incomes but manage to stay housed, and highlights the importance of mental health issues in this regard.

As discussed earlier in the section 'Types of traumatic events experienced by those who also experience long term homelessness', homeless people, particularly those with mental health problems, are frequently assaulted. Physical assault of people experiencing homelessness has been found to have consequences beyond physical and emotional injury. Although there has been little longitudinal research on people experiencing homelessness, it appears that violent assault may prolong homelessness, even more so than factors such as an individual's level of social support [35]. The reason for this has not been established but the previously described relationship between the experience of mental health problems and physical assault, raises the possibility that the relationship between physical assault and prolonged homelessness may be mediated by mental health problems. This highlights the importance of a focus on mental health problems and the establishment of a safe environment in efforts to mitigate the risk of violent assault and prolonged homelessness.

In summary, a review of the risk factors for PTSD and homelessness has highlighted a complex interactive relationship between the variables that may contribute to both, independently and in combination. Potentially traumatic experiences, particularly in childhood, that are risk factors for the development of PTSD, are an important subset of the risk factors for homelessness that also include economic and social disadvantage. Furthermore, there is evidence that the combined experience of mental health problems and homelessness is associated with an increased risk of further trauma exposure (assault) and poorer housing outcomes in the longer term. However, there is insufficient evidence at this stage to establish causal relationships between these variables.



What is the Impact of Trauma Exposure and Resulting Mental Health Problems upon Homelessness?

Exposure to traumatic stressors is prevalent among homeless people, and homelessness is often associated with trauma, substance use and physical or mental illness, however the nature and direction of causality is not clear. It appears likely to vary for different individuals or sub-populations [104]. Unfortunately very little is known about the antecedents and consequences of homelessness, particularly among men, including the role of trauma, substance abuse, and physical and mental illness. The sparse literature suggests that trauma, PTSD, substance abuse and physical and mental illness often occur before, during and after periods of homelessness, but the causal pathways and nature of the relationships among these factors remain in need of systematic empirical study [68].

This is particularly relevant because exposure to traumatic events occurs frequently among homeless adults, and many of the risk factors for homelessness are risk factors for PTSD [44]. For example, as was discussed in the previous sections, people who experience homelessness have a far greater risk of being exposed to a traumatic event than a housed person. Adults who experience homelessness seem to be at higher risk for further traumatic stressors, especially assault, than their housed counterparts, but what role this and the associated PTSD play in chronic homelessness is unknown. It has been suggested that exposure to violence may increase the likelihood of chronic homelessness [39]. Lam and Rosenheck [35] found that recent assault negatively impacted on both duration of homelessness and quality of life, suggesting a critically important role for trauma-informed services that aim to minimise further trauma exposure as well as provide appropriate support.

Very few studies have investigated the relationship between PTSD and homelessness within the context of time (i.e. which occurs first), but there is some evidence to suggest that the development of PTSD commonly precedes the onset of homelessness. In a study conducted in the US, North and Smith found that of those with a lifetime history of PTSD, 71% of men and 74% of women developed PTSD before the year that they first became homeless [30]. Similarly, in an Australian study of homeless youth, trauma preceded homelessness in 50% of cases and was the precipitant for homelessness in



30% of cases [105]. In the only study to examine this issue with Australian adults experiencing homelessness, Taylor and Sharpe [25] found that in 83% of cases the first trauma occurred before the first homeless episode and in another 4% of cases the first trauma and homelessness coincided.

Given the scarcity of research on the nature and direction of the impact of exposure to trauma upon the experience of homelessness, this is an area that is in need of attention from the research community. Since the experience of trauma may be a risk factor for homelessness, it is important that this relationship be better understood, so that steps can be taken to prevent the onset of homelessness in those who have experienced trauma.



What are the Barriers Experienced by People who Experience Homelessness in Receiving Mental Health Interventions?

As we have discussed in the previous sections, many people who experience homelessness also have diagnoses of serious mental illness. In the general community, approximately two thirds of all people with mental illness do not receive treatment in any given year [106], and this proportion is likely to be far higher for those experiencing homelessness, who frequently report difficulties in accessing care [24]. Systemic barriers including deinstitutionalisation and the subsequent failure of the community mental healthcare system to respond to the multitude of needs of people with severe mental illness, the general inaccessibility of healthcare to people who experience homelessness, and the pressures of extreme poverty – such as the necessity to obtain food over healthcare – have all been cited in the international literature as factors that contribute to the problem of experiencing homelessness and mental illness [77, 107-110].

Many efforts have been made to develop useful treatment programs and facilities for people who experience homelessness and mental illness. These services, however, are often not utilised to an extent that would be desirable. Studies have shown that people who experience homelessness report more psychiatric hospitalisations than their housed counterparts [56, 111]. The experience of trauma increases the need to access mental health services, and as we have previously discussed, the majority of people who experience homelessness have also experienced trauma. However, despite high levels of need, many homeless people do not receive adequate or appropriate physical [112] or mental health care [113].

Researchers have defined various types of barriers (e.g., financial, bureaucratic, programmatic and personal) and their potential impact on the extent of service usage for people experiencing homelessness [114]. Mental health service-seeking among those experiencing homelessness tends to be related to their level of need [115], education, residential stability and having a usual place to sleep [116].

Some barriers come from service providers who are reluctant to treat clients experiencing homelessness [117, 118]. Some of the reasons that service providers are



reluctant to treat these clients include, feeling overwhelmed by the clinical problems, being unprepared to deal with social and economic needs, and feeling too demoralised to pursue what they perceive as improbable goals or "lost causes" (p. 450) [117]. Many people experiencing homelessness have not traditionally been well cared for and may be reluctant to engage in services. As such, further barriers may come from the people themselves, who are distrustful about the providers and authorities [119]. Simple practical problems can hamper efforts to engage with mental health services. For example, the lack of transportation to treatment and the cost of using public transport can prevent people from engaging with services [24, 120]. For people who live in remote areas, there is often a lack of services, which can result in feelings of isolation and inadequate support [24]. Little is known however, about the barriers to specific kinds of care and the individualised ways in which interventions can target those barriers to promote preventative and regular service utilisation [121]. In a study which examined barriers to mental healthcare, stigma was found to be the most important barrier, with those reporting the highest level of psychiatric symptoms also a higher probability of reporting perceived stigma and fear of social rejection [122]. Interestingly, over half of the respondents in this study reported that they could solve the mental health problems on their own. Importantly, this study did not involve people experiencing homelessness and the findings may not generalise to this group.

While individuals who experience chronic homelessness have high rates of emergency service utilisation, they are generally unable to access and engage in ongoing outpatient treatment for mental illness, chronic health conditions and substance use disorders. A study by Fortney [123] found that people experiencing homelessness with mental illness are less likely than other mental health consumers to experience continuity of care. This was measured by longer duration between encounters for mental health services, lower volume of service encounters, fewer types of services received, lower likelihood of receiving continuous care from the same facility/provider, and lower likelihood of having a case manager. The authors note that low continuity of outpatient care over time puts people who experience homelessness and mental health problems at risk for encounters with other elements of the service system such as hospitals and emergency departments which are less likely to meet their needs, as well as placing them at risk for encounters with the criminal justice system [123].



These findings are consistent with other studies which have documented inefficient patterns of service utilisation among people experiencing homelessness and mental health problems - more days of acute psychiatric hospitalisation, greater utilisation of services in the psychiatric emergency units of hospitals, and more infrequent use of outpatient mental health services [56, 124, 125]. In one examination of an outreach program for homeless mentally ill veterans, only 24% were still in contact with services after three months [126]. In another study, 40% of a sample of people experiencing homelessness with a dual diagnosis of mental health problems and substance use disorder failed to commit even for one day [127]. Individuals experiencing homelessness are also more likely to cycle in and out of emergency and residential substance abuse treatment services and often find it difficult to maintain participation in outpatient settings [89]. People experiencing homelessness who participate in substance abuse treatment services are more likely than other participants to have had multiple episodes prior to the current treatment episode [128]. Individuals who enter substance abuse treatment programs are often unable or unwilling to complete the program. Studies of a range of treatment interventions have found that only about one-fourth [129] to one-third [130] of participants complete substance abuse treatment programs, even when the programs are specifically designed for homeless people with serious substance use problems.

Difficult client behaviour associated with client conditions can sometimes hamper efforts by workers to engage clients in treatment and promote recovery. For example, behaviours associated with active substance use were seen as difficult to manage in a review of services designed to serve individuals with co-occurring disorders as they transition to permanent supported housing [131]. The time needed for change to occur was cited as another barrier, with staff reporting that they needed more time and patience than they had expected, in order to build trust and address clients' myriad of issues. In some cases, clients were unable to acknowledge that they had mental health problems, and required months of relationship building and education before accepting any form of counselling or treatment. Lack of agreement or insight into mental illness issues, a lack of awareness of available services and a reluctance to access services due to past negative experiences, are all common barriers to receiving treatment for mental illness [132].



By developing a better understanding of, and addressing these barriers to mental health care, it may be possible to develop strategies for improving mental health services for this population.



Working with People Experiencing Homelessness: A Trauma-informed Practice Model

Research shows that people who experience homelessness experience high rates of exposure to traumatic events that occur prior to, and after losing, secure accommodation. Currently, few programs serving individuals experiencing homelessness directly address the specialised needs of trauma survivors [16]. However, in an effort to respond to the needs of those who have experienced trauma, some programs that service clients who experience homelessness are developing trauma-informed services. These services recognise the significance of violence and trauma exposure in understanding client problems. The critical need to deliver services that are trauma-informed has been recently recognised [7, 133, 134], however the wider adoption across the Australian homelessness service is still in its infancy [135].

Trauma-informed care (TIC)

At a minimum, trauma-informed services aim to provide an increased sense of safety, and strive to avoid any re-traumatisation of their service users [4]. In the past, the nature of trauma-informed care (TIC) was ill-defined. Recently, however, in a seminal peer-reviewed article by Hopper, Bassuk and Oliver [16], a consensus based definition of TIC within homelessness service settings was developed:

Trauma-informed Care is a strengths-based framework that is grounded in an understanding of and responsiveness to the impact of trauma, that emphasizes physical, psychological and emotional safety for both providers and survivors, and that creates opportunities for survivors to rebuild a sense of control and empowerment ([16], p.82)

Within the practice literature, being trauma-informed requires that the whole approach to service delivery is aware of the trauma history an individual presents with. The themes encompassed by this consensus based definition can be broken down into some greater detail. The key themes include:

Trauma awareness: Trauma-informed service providers incorporate an
understanding of trauma into their work. This may mean that it is necessary to
alter staff perspectives on how to understand various symptoms and behaviours.
This can occur through staff training, consultation, and supervision.



Organisational changes may also be made, such as routine screening for histories of trauma and assessment of safety. The *self-care* of staff is also an essential element of trauma-informed services [16].

- Emphasis on safety: Trauma survivors can feel unsafe and at times may actually be in danger (e.g., victims of domestic violence), therefore TIC works towards building physical and emotional safety for both service users and providers. Because interpersonal trauma often involves boundary violations and abuse of power, systems must be developed that take into account trauma dynamics, and clear roles, responsibilities and boundaries must be delineated. Privacy, confidentiality and mutual respect must be maintained to develop an emotionally safe atmosphere, and cultural differences and diversity (e.g., gender, ethnicity, sexual orientation) must be respected [16].
- Opportunities to rebuild control: Control is often taken away in traumatic
 situations, and homelessness itself is disempowering, therefore TIC emphasises
 the importance of choice for service users. Trauma-informed services create
 predictable environments and allow individuals to rebuild a sense of efficacy and
 personal control over their lives. This includes involving service users in the
 design and evaluation of services [16].
- Strengths-based approach: Finally, TIC is strengths-based, rather than deficitorientated. Individuals are assisted by the service in identifying their own
 strengths and developing their own coping skills. TIC service settings are
 focussed on the future and utilise skills-building to further develop resiliency [16].

The scientific evidence related to TIC

A small number of studies have examined TIC in relation to psychiatric symptoms and substance use, which provide evidence on the *outcomes* for TIC [e.g., 136]. A meta-analysis of a nine-site quasi-experimental study of comprehensive trauma-informed and consumer-involved service for women with mental health problems [137], found that sites which provided more integrated counselling produced more favourable results for mental health symptoms six-months post-program. Early indications also suggest that TIC may have a positive effect on housing stability. A multi-site descriptive evaluation of trauma-informed services for homeless families found that almost 90% of participants



had either remained in government subsidised housing or moved to permanent housing [138] 18 months after engaging with the program. Although this research suggests that TIC may be effective for those who experience homelessness, there have yet to be any rigorous quantitative studies exploring outcomes within homelessness service settings [16].

From this review of both quantitative and qualitative studies, there is evidence to suggest TIC is generally viewed favourably by service users and providers and there is some evidence linking it to more effective outcomes across several areas including increased rates of housing stability [16]. There are, however, significant gaps in current knowledge for homelessness specific models and further research is necessary to examine its effectiveness [16].

Corroborative evidence related to TIC

Due to the fact that the area of TIC is still in its infancy, a review of the grey literature in this area yields a wealth of information about current practices and policy initiatives. Many of the models of TIC that are currently in use in the "real-world" emphasise staff education, involving consumers and transforming systems to be responsive to the needs of trauma survivors, e.g., A Long Journey Home [139] and Phoenix Rising [140]. Organisational self-assessments can be a starting point for system change, indicating how a service delivery model might be adapted to an organisation's unique needs. A number of trauma-informed organisational self-assessments are currently available including the 'Trauma-informed Organisational Self-Assessment for Programs Serving Homeless Families' [141], and the 'Trauma-Informed Facility Assessment' [142]. The development of these models and self-assessment tools have facilitated the development of a number of TIC programs within the homelessness service system in the US [16].

Given that the majority of people who experience homelessness have also experienced trauma, it is of critical importance to provide a service response that is trauma-informed. There is currently a scarcity of rigorous research in the area of TIC, however this is an area that shows great promise. Future research investigating attitudes, implementation and outcomes of TIC will shed light on this under-researched area.



Conclusion

In this review, the literature on the nature of the relationship between traumatic events in people's lives and homelessness has been examined. A rigorous review methodology was employed to examine topics including: the types of traumatic events that are experienced by people who also experience homelessness; the mental health disorders that are prevalent amongst people experiencing homelessness; risk factors that contribute to recurring homelessness; the impact of trauma exposure and resulting mental health problems upon homelessness; the barriers experienced by people who experience homelessness in receiving mental health interventions; and the evidence to support a trauma-informed practice model.

The content of this review will be used to assist in the development of a research project that investigates the nature of the relationship between traumatic events in people's lives and their state of homelessness. It will also assist in the development of a trauma-informed framework that will guide practice and service delivery of agencies who work with people who are homeless.



References

- **1.** Homelessness Taskforce. (2008). *The Road Home: A National Approach to Reducing Homelessness*. Canberra, ACT: Commonwealth of Australia.
- 2. Chamberlain C, D. M. (2009). *Counting the homeless 2006.* Canberra: Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW).
- 3. Commonwealth Advisory Committee on Homelessness. (1998). Issues paper No 4: Preventing homelessness among people with mental health problems. Canberra: CACH.
- **4.** Johnson G, Parkinson S, Tseng Y, Kuehnle D. (2011). *Long-term homelessness: Understanding the challenge- 12 months outcomes from the Journey to Social Inclusion pilot program.* St Kilda: Sacred Heart M.
- 5. Culhane DP, Metraux S. (2008) Rearranging the Deck Chairs or Reallocating the Lifeboats? Homelessness Assistance and Its Alternatives *Journal of the American Planning Association*. 74(1):111-121.
- **6.** Johnson G, Chamberlain C. (2008) From Youth to Adult Homelessness *Australian Journal of Social Issues*. *43(4)*:563-582.
- **7.** Robinson C. Rough living: Surviving violence and homelessness. Sydney: UTS Shopfront; 2010.
- **8.** Fischer PJ, Breakey WR. (1991) The epidemiology of alcohol, drug, and mental disorders among homeless persons *American Psychologist*. *46(11)*:1115-1128.
- **9.** Jainchill N, Hawke J, Yagelka J. (2000) Gender, psychopathology, and patterns of homelessness among clients in shelter-based TCs *The American Journal Of Drug And Alcohol Abuse. 26(4)*:553-567.
- **10.** Goodman LA, Dutton MA, Harris M. (1995) Episodically homeless women with serious mental-illness- prevalence and sexual assault *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. *65(4)*:468-478.
- **11.** American Psychiatric Association. Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 4th Edition. Washington DC: American Psychiatric Association; 1994.
- **12.** North CS, Suris AM, Davis M, Smith RP. (2009) Toward validation of the diagnosis of posttraumatic stress disorder *American Journal of Psychiatry*. *166*:34-41.
- 13. Long ME, Elhai J. (2009) Posttraumatic stress disorder's traumatic stressor criterion: History, controversy, clinical and legal implications *Psychological Injury and Law. 2(2)*:167-178.
- 14. Weathers FW, Keane TM. (2007) The criterion A problem revisited: Controversies and challenges in defining and measuring psychological trauma *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*. 20(2):107-121.
- **15.** Terr LC. (1991) Acute responses to external events and posttraumatic stress disorders.
- **16.** Hopper EK, Bassuk EL, Oliver J. (2010) Shelter from the Storm: Traumainformed care in homelessness services settings *The Open Health Services and Policy Journal*. 3:80-100.
- van der Kolk BA, Roth S, Pelcovitz D, Sunday S, Spinazzola J. (2005) Disorders of extreme stress: The empirical foundation of a complex adaptation to trauma *Journal of Traumatic Stress.* 18(5):389-399.
- **18.** Herman JL. (1992) Complex PTSD: A syndrome in survivors of prolonged and repeated trauma *Journal of Traumatic Stress*. *5*(3):377-391.
- **19.** Rayburn NR, Wenzel SL, Elliott MN, Hambarsoomians K, Marshall GN, Tucker JS. (2005) Trauma, depression, coping, and mental health service seeking



- among impoverished women *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. 73(4):667-677.
- **20.** Kushel MB, Evans J, Perry S, Robertson M, Moss A. (2003) No door to lock: victimization among homeless and marginally housed persons *Archives of Internal Medicine*. *163*:2492-2499.
- **21.** Thompson S. (2005) Factors associated with trauma symptoms among runaway / homeless adolescents *Stress Trauma and Crisis*. *8*:143-156.
- **22.** Buhrich N, Hodder T, Teesson M. (2000) Lifetime prevalence of trauma among homeless people in Sydney *Australian & New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*. *34*(*6*):963-966.
- **23.** Martijn C, Sharpe L. (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science & Martijn C, Sharpe L.* (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science & Martijn C, Sharpe L.* (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science & Martijn C, Sharpe L.* (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science & Martijn C, Sharpe L.* (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science & Martijn C, Sharpe L.* (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science & Martijn C, Sharpe L.* (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science & Martijn C, Sharpe L.* (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science & Martijn C, Martijn C*
- **24.** Robinson C. (2003). *Understanding interatrive homelessness: The case of people with mental disorders.* Melbourne: Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute.
- **25.** Taylor KM, Sharpe L. (2008) Trauma and post-traumatic stress disorder among homeless adults in Sydney *The Australian And New Zealand Journal Of Psychiatry*. *42*(3):206-213.
- **26.** Rosenman S. (2002) Trauma and posttraumatic stress disorder in Australia: Findings in the population sample of the Australian National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing *Australian and New Zealand Journal of Psychiatry*. *36(4)*:515-520.
- **27.** Bachrach Ll. (1987) Homeless women: a context for health *Milbank Quarterly*. *65*:371-396.
- **28.** Schutt RK, Meschede T, Rierdan J. (1994) Distress, suicidal thoughts, and social support among homeless adults *Journal Of Health And Social Behavior*. *35(2)*:134-142.
- **29.** Kim MM, Ford JD, Howard DL, Bradford DW. (2010) Assessing trauma, substance abuse, and mental health in a sample of homeless men *Health & Social Work*. *35(1)*:39-48.
- **30.** North CS, Smith EM. (1992) Posttraumatic stress disorder among homeless men and women *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*. *43*(10):1010-1016.
- **31.** Goodman LA. (1991) The prevalence of abuse among homeless and housed poor mothers *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. *61(4)*:489-500.
- **32.** Barber J, Delfabbro P. Children in Foster Care. London and New York: Routledge; 2004.
- 33. Stein MD. (2006) Research review: Young people leaving care *Child and Family Social Work.* 11(3):265-279.
- **34.** Cohen CI, Sokolovsky J. Old men of the Bowery. New York: Guilford; 1989.
- **35.** Lam JA, Rosenheck R. (1998) The effect of victimisation on clinical outcomes of homeless people with serious mental illness *Psychiatric Services*. *49*(678-683).
- **36.** Larney S, Conroy E, Mills KL, Burns L, Teesson M. (2009) Factors associated with violent victimisation among homeless adults in Sydney, Australia *Australian And New Zealand Journal Of Public Health*. *33(4)*:347-351.
- **37.** Heslin K, Robinson PL, Baker RS, Gelberg L. (2007) Community characteristics and violence against homeless women in Los Angeles County *Journal of Health Care for the Poor and Underserved.* 18:203-218.
- **38.** Lenon S. (2000) Living on the edge: Women, poverty and homelessness in Canada *Canadian Woman Studies*. *20*:123-127.



- **39.** Fitzpatrick KM, La Gory M, Ritchey FJ. (1999) Dangerous places: exposure to violence and its mental health consequences for the homeless *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. 69:438-447.
- **40.** O'Dwyer B. (1997) Pathways to homelessness: A comparison of gender and schizophrenia in inner-Sydney *Australian Geographical Studies*. *35*:294-307.
- **41.** Padgett DK, Streuning EL. (1992) Victimization and traumatic injuries among the homeless: Associations with alcohol, drug and mental problems *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. *62(4)*:525-534.
- **42.** O'Connell JJ. (2005). *Premature mortality in homeless populations: A review of literature.* Nashville: National Health Care for the Homeless Council.
- **43.** Breslau N, Chilcoat HD, Kessler RC, Peterson EL, Lucia VC. (1999) Vulnerability to assaultive violence: Further specification of the sex difference in post-traumatic stress disorder *Psychological Medicine*. *29*:813-821.
- **44.** Kessler RC, Sonnega A, Hughes M, Nelson CB. (1995) Posttraumatic stress disorder in the national comorbidity survey *Archives of General Psychiatry*. *52*:1048-1060.
- **45.** Lisak D, Luster L. (1994) Educational, occupational, and relationship histories of men who were sexually and/or physically abused as children *Journal of Traumatic Stress. 7*(*4*):507-523.
- **46.** Bassuk EL, Weinreb LF, Buckner JC, Browne A, Salomon A, Bassuk SS. (1996) The characteristics and needs of sheltered homeless and low-income housed mothers *Jama-Journal of the American Medical Association*. *276(8)*:640-646.
- **47.** Milburn NG, D'Ercole. (1991) Homeless women: Moving towards a comprehensive model *American Psychologist*. *46*:1161-1169.
- **48.** Bassuk EL, Weinreb LF, Buckner JC, Salomon A, Bassuk SS. (1996) The characteristics and needs of sheltered homeless and low-income housed mothers *JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association. 28(27)*:640-646
- **49.** Geissler LJ, Bormann CA, Kwiatkowski CF, Braucht GN, Reichardt CS. (1995) Women, homelessness, and substance abuse: Moving beyond the stereotypes *Psychology of Women Quarterly*. *19*:65-83.
- **50.** Wenzel SL, Koegel P, Gelberg L. (2000) Antecedents of physical and sexual victimisation among homeless women: A comparison to homeless men *American Journal Of Community Psychology.* 28:367-390.
- 51. Simons RL, Whitbeck LB, Bales A. (1989) Life on the streets: Victimisation and psychological distress among the adult homeless *Journal Of Interpersonal Violence*. *4*:482-501.
- **52.** Herman DB, Susser ES, Struening E, Link B. (1997) Adverse childhood experiences: Are they risk factors for adult homelessness? *American Journal Of Public Health*. *27*(2):249-255.
- 53. Fichter MM, Quadflieg N. (2005) Three year course and outcome of mental illness in homeless men: a prospective longitudinal study based on a representative sample *European Archives Of Psychiatry And Clinical Neuroscience*. 255(2):111-120.
- Muñoz JP, Koegel P, Vazquez C, Sanz J, Burnam A. (2002) An empirical comparison of sustance and alcohol dependence patterns in the homeless in Madrid (Spain) and Los Angeles (CA, USA) *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*. 37(6):289-298.
- 55. Sullivan G, Burnam A, Koegel P. (2000) Pathways to homeless men in the midnineties: results from the Bavarian Public Health Study on homelessness *European Archives Of Psychiatry And Clinical Neuroscience*. *35*:404-413.



- **56.** Folsom D, Hawthorne W, Lindamer L, Gilmer T, Bailey A, Golshan S, al. e. (2005) Prevalence of risk factors for homelessness and utilization of mental health services among 10,340 patients with serious mental illness in a large public mental health system *American Journal of Psychiatry*. *162*:370-376.
- **57.** Fazel S, Khosla V, Doll H, Geddes J. (2008) The prevalence of mental disorders among the homeless in western countries: systematic review and metaregression analysis *Plos Medicine*. *5*(12):e225-e225.
- 58. Breslau N, Chilcoat HD, Kessler RC, Davis GC. (1999) Previous exposure to trauma and PTSD effects of subsequent trauma: Results from the Detroit Area Survey of Trauma *American Journal of Psychiatry*. *156(6)*:902-907.
- **59.** Bassuk EL, Buckner JC, Perloff JN, Bassuk SS. (1998) Prevalence of mental health and substance use disorders among homeless and low-income housed mothers *American Journal of Psychiatry*. *155(11)*:1561-1564.
- **60.** World Health Organization. International classification of diseases

(10th rev.). Geneva, Switzerland: WHO Press; 1992.

- **61.** Gwadz MV, Nish D, Leonard NR, Strauss SM. (2007) Gender differences in traumatic events and rates of post-traumatic stress disorder among homeless youth *Journal of Adolescence*. *30(1)*:117-129.
- **62.** Breslau N, Davis GC, Andreski P, Peterson EL, Schultz LR. (1997) Sex differences in posttraumatic stress disorder *Archives of General Psychiatry*. *54*(11):1044-1048.
- 63. Andreski P, Chilcoat H, Breslau N. (1998) Post-traumatic stress disorder and somatization symptoms: A prospective study *Psychiatry Research*. *79(2)*:131-138.
- 64. Kim MM, Ford JD. (2006) Trauma and Post-Traumatic Stress Among Homeless Men: A Review of Current Research *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma*. 13(2):1-22.
- 65. Bassuk EL, Dawson R, Perloff JN, Weinrub LF. (2001) Posttraumatic stress disorder in extremely poor women: Implications for health care clinicians *Journal of the American Medical Women's Association*. *56*(2):79-85.
- 66. Bean J, Moller AT. (2002) Posttraumatic stress and depressive symptomatology in a sample of battered womne from South Africa *Psychological Reports*. 90(3):750-752.
- **67.** Gully K, Koller S, Ainsworth A. (2001) Exposure of homeless children to family violence: An adverse effect beyond alternative explanations *Journal of Emotional Abuse*. *2*(*4*):5-18.
- **68.** Kim M, Arnold EM. (2003) Stressful life events and trauma among substance abusing homeless men *Journal of Social Work Practice in the Additions*. *4*(2):45-52.
- **69.** Green BL, Goodman LA, Krupnick JL, Corcoran CB, Petty RM, Stockton P, Stern NM. (2000) Outcomes of single versus multiple trauma exposure in a screening sample *Journal Of Traumatic Stress*. *13*(*2*):271-286.
- **70.** Koegel P, Burnam A, Farr RK. (1998) The prevalence of specific psychiatric disorders among homeless individual in the inner city of Los Angeles *Archives of General Psychiatry*. *45*:1085-1092.
- **71.** Gill B, Meltzer H, Hinds K. (1996). *The prevalence of psychiatric morbidity among homeless adults.*
- **72.** Hermann HE, McGorry PD, Bennett PA, van Riel R, Singh B. (1989) Prevalence of severe mental disorders in disaffiliated and homeless people in inner Melbourne *American Journal of Psychiatry*. *146*:1179-1184.



- **73.** Burt MR. Helping America's Homeless. Washington, DC: Urban Institute Press; 2001.
- **74.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2007). *Homeless SAAP clients with mental health and substance abuse problems 2004-05.* Bulletin no. 51.
- **75.** Teesson M, Hodder T, Buhrich N. (2004) Psychiatric disorders in homeless men and women in inner Sydney *The Australian And New Zealand Journal Of Psychiatry*. *38*(3):162-168.
- **76.** Australian Bureau of Statistics. (1997). *Mental Health and Wellbeing Profile of Adult, Australia*. Canberra, Australia: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- **77.** Folsom D, Jeste DV. (2002) Schizophrenia in homeless persons: a systematic review of the literature *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*. *105(6)*:404-413.
- **78.** Chapple B, Chant D, Nolan P, Cardy S, Whiteford H, McGrath J. (2004) Correlates of victimisation amongst people with psychosis *Social Psychiatry And Psychiatric Epidemiology*. *39*(10):836-840.
- **79.** Kemp P, Neale J, Robertson M. (2006) Homelessness among problem drug users: Prevalene, risk factors and triggers events *Health and Social Care in the Community*. *14*:319-328.
- **80.** Mallett S, Rosenthal D, Keys D. (1995) Young people, drug use and family conflict: Pathways into homelessness *Journal of Adolescence*. 28:185-199.
- **81.** Johnson G, Chamberlain C. (2008) Homelessness and Substance Abuse: Which Comes First? *Australian Social Work*. *61(4)*:342-356.
- **82.** Bebout RR.(2001) *Trauma-informed approaches to housing*. In: Harris M, Fallot R, eds. Using trauma theory to design service systems. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass:47-55.
- **83.** Brewin CR, Andrews B, Valentine JD. (2000) Meta-analysis of risk factors for posttraumatic stress disorder in trauma-exposed adults *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*. *68(5)*:748-766.
- **84.** Ozer EJ, Best SR, Lipsey TL, Weiss DS. (2003) Predictors of posttraumatic stress disorder and symptoms in adults: A meta-analysis *Psychological Bulletin*. *129(1)*:52-73.
- **85.** McFarlane A, Bryant R. (2007) Post-traumatic stress disorder in occupational settings: Anticipating and managing the risk *Occupational Medicine*. *57*:404-410.
- **86.** Susser ES, Lin HJ, Conover SA, Struening EL. (1991) Childhood antecendants of homeless adults *JAMA: the journal of the American Medical Association*. 28:1379-1388.
- **87.** Morrell-Bellai T, Goering PN, Boydell KM. (2000) Becoming and remaining homeless: A qualitative investigation *Issues In Mental Health Nursing*. *21(6)*:581-604.
- **88.** Snow DL, Anderson L. (1993). *Down on their luck: A study of homeless street people.* Los Angeles, CA: University of California Press.
- **89.** Parker S, Limbers L, McKeon E. (2002). *Homelessness and mental illness: Mapping the way home*: Mental Health Coordinating Council.
- **90.** Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW). (2008). *Homeless people in SAAP: SAAP National Data Collection annual report.* Canberra: SAAP NDCA report series 12; cat. no. HOU 185.
- **91.** Bassuk EL, Rosenberg L. (1988) Why does family homelessness occur? A case-control study *American Journal Of Public Health*. *78*:783-788.
- **92.** Mangine SJ, Royse D, Wiehe VR. (1990) Homelessness among adults raised as foster children: a survey of drop-in centre users *Psychological Reports*. *67*:739-745.



- **93.** Susser ES, Struening E, Conover SA. (1987) Childhood experiences of homeless men *American Journal of Psychiatry*. *144*:1599-1601.
- **94.** Koegel P, Melamid E, Burnam MA. (1995) Childhood risk factors for homelessness among homeless adults *American Journal Of Public Health*. *85(12)*:1642-1649.
- **95.** Smyth C, Eardley T. (2008). *Out of home care for children in Australia: A review of literature and policy. Final report*: Social Policy Research Centre, University of New South Wales, Sydney.
- **96.** Clay N, Coffey M. (2003) Breaking the jobless/homeless cycle: foyers in the Australian context *Developing Practice. Winter/Spring 2003*:14-23.
- **97.** Bryer J, Nelson B, Miller J, Krol P. (1987) Childhood sexual and physical abuse as factors in adult psychiatric illness *American Journal of Psychiatry*. *144*:1426-1430.
- **98.** Straus M, Kantor G. (1994) Corporal punishment of adolescents by parents: A risk factor in the epidemiology of depression, suicide, alcohol abuse, child abuse, and wife beating *Adolescence*. *29*:543-561.
- **99.** McLeod J. (1991) Childhood parental loss and adult depression *Journal Of Health And Social Behavior*. 32:205-220.
- **100.** Susser E, Moore R, Link B. (1993) Risk Factors for Homelessness *Epidemiologic Reviews*. *15*(2):546-556.
- **101.** Whitbeck LB, Hoyt DR, Yoder KA. (1999) A risk-amplification model of victimization and depressive symptoms among runaway and homeless adolescents *American Journal Of Community Psychology*. *27(2)*:273-296.
- **102.** Caton CL, Dominguez B, Schanzer B, Hasin DS, Shrout PE, Felix A, al. e. (2005) Risk factors for long-term homelessness: Findings from a longitudinal study of first-time homeless single adults *American Journal Of Public Health*. *95*:1753-1759.
- **103.** North CS, Pollio DE, Smith EM, Spitznagel EL. (1998) Correlates of early onset and chronicity of homelessness in a large urban homeless population *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*. *186*:393-400.
- **104.** Johnson TP, Freels SA, Parsons JA, Vangeest JB. (1997) Substance abuse and homelessness: Social selection or social adaptation? *Addiction. 92(4)*:437-445.
- **105.** Martijn C, Sharpe L. (2006) Pathways to youth homelessness *Social Science* and *Medicine*. *62(1)*:1-12.
- **106.** Australian Bureau of Statistics. (2008). *National Survey of Mental Health and Wellbeing: Summary of Results, Australia, 2007.* Canberra: Australian Bureau of Statistics.
- **107.** Hwang SW. (2001) Homelessness and health *CMAJ: Canadian Medical Association Journal = Journal De L'association Medicale Canadienne*. 164(2):229-233.
- **108.** Bachrach LL. (1992) What we know about homelessness among mentally ill persons: An analytical review and commentary *Hospital and Community Psychiatry*. *43*:453-464.
- **109.** Bradford DW, Gaynes BN, Kim MM, Kaufman JS, Weinberger JP. (2005) Can shelter-based interventions improve treatment engagement in homeless individuals with psychiatric and/or substance misuse disorder? A randomized conrolled trial *Medical Care*. *43*(*8*):763-768.
- **110.** Kushel MB, Gupta R, Gee L, Haas JS. (2005) Housing instability and food insecurity as barriers to health care: results from the national survey of American families *Journal Of General Internal Medicine*. *20(Supplement 1)*.



- **111.** Robertson MJ, Cousineau MR. (1986) Health status and access to health services among the urban homeless *American Journal Of Public Health*. *76(5)*:561-563.
- **112.** Gelberg L, Doblin BH, Leake BD. (1996) Ambulatory health services provided to low-income and homeless adult patients in a major community health center *Journal Of General Internal Medicine*. *11*(*3*):156-162.
- 113. Breakey WR, Fischer PJ, Kramer BJ, Nestadt G, Romanoski AJ, Ross A, al e. (1989) Health and mental health problems of homeless men and women in Baltimore *Journal of the American Medical Association*. 262:1352-1357.
- **114.** Gillis LM, Singer J. (1997) Breaking through the barriers: Healthcare for the homeless *Journal of Nursing Administration*. *27(6)*:30-34.
- **115.** Koegel P, Sullivan G, Burnam MA, Morton SC, Wenzel SL. (1999) Utilization of mental health and substance abuse services among homeless adults in Los Angeles *Medical Care*. *37*:306-317.
- 116. Wenzel SL, Burnam A, Koegel P, Morton SC, Miu A, Jinnett KJ, Greer Sullivan J. (2001) Access to inpatient or residential substance abuse treatment among homeless adults with alcohol or other drug use disorders *Medical Care*. 39:1158-1169.
- **117.** Chafetz L. (1990) Withdrawal from the homeless mentally ill *Community Mental Health Journal*. 26:449-461.
- **118.** Cohen NL. (1990) Stigma is in the eye of the beholder: A hospital outreach program for treating homeless mentally ill people *Bulletin of Menninger Clinic*. *54*:255-258.
- 119. Breakey WR, Fischer PJ, Nestadt G, al. e.(1992) *Stigma and stereotype: homeless mentally ill persons*. In: Fink PJ, Tasman A, eds. Stigma and Mental Illness. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Press.
- **120.** Applewhite SL. (1997) Homeless veterans: perspectives on social services use *Social Work. 42(1)*:19-30.
- **121.** Rosenheck R, Lam JA. (1997) Client and site characteristics as barriers to service use by homeless persons with serious mental illness *Psychiatric Services*. *48*(3):387-390.
- 122. Kim MM, Swanson JW, Swartz MS, Bradford DW, Mustillo SA, Elbogen EB. (2007) Healthcare barriers among severely mentally ill homeless adults: Evidence from the five-site health and risk study *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*. 34(4):363-375.
- **123.** Fortney J, Sullivan G, Williams K, Jackson C, Morton SC, Koegel P. (2003) Measuring continuity of care for clients of public mental health systems *Health Services Research*. *38(4)*:1157-1175.
- **124.** Kuno E, Rothbard AB, Averyt J, Culhane DP. (2000) Homelessness among persons with serious mental illness in an enhanced community-based mental health system *Psychiatric Services*. *51*:1012-1016.
- **125.** Rosenheck R, Kasprow W, Frisman L, Liu-Mares W. (2003) Cost-effectiveness of supported housing for homeless persons with mental illness *Archives of General Psychiatry*. *60*:940-951.
- **126.** Rosenheck R, Gallup P. (1991) Involvement in a noutreach and residential treatment progress for homeless mentally ill veterans *Journal of Nervous and Mental Disease*. *179*:750-754.
- **127.** Stecher BM, Andrews CA, McDonald L, al e. (1994) Implementation of residential and non residential treatment for the dually diagnosed homeless *Evaluation and Research*. *18*:669-717.



- **128.** Office of Applied Studies S. (2006). *The DASIS report: Homeless admissions to substance abuse treatment: 2004 (Issue 26).* Washington, DC: Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration, Office of Applied Studies.
- **129.** Castillo EM, Lindsay SP, Sturgis KN, Bera SJ, Dunford JV. (2005). *An evaluation of the impact of San Diego's serial inebriate program*. San Diego, CA: Institute for Public Health, San Diego State University.
- **130.** Orwin RG, Mogren RG, Jacobs ML, Sonnefeld LJ. (1999) Retention of homeless clients in substance abuse treatment: Findings from the National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism Cooperative Agreement Program *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*. *17*:45-66.
- **131.** Foster S, LeFauve C, Kresky-Wolff M, Rickards LD. (2009) Services and supports for individuals with co-occurring disorders and long-term homelessness *Journal of Behavioral Health Services & Research*. *37*(2):239-251.
- **132.** PILCH Homeless Persons' Legal Clinic. (2005). *Homelessness, Mental Health and Human Rights: Submission to the Senate Select Committee on Mental Health.* Melbourne: Public Interest Law Clearing House.
- **133.** Harris M, Fallot R.(2001) *Envisioning a trauma informed service system: A vital paradigm shift.* In: Harris M, Fallot R, eds. Using trauma theory to design serivce systems. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass:3-22.
- **134.** Parkinson S. (2004). *Getting my life back together: Women, housing and multiple needs.* Melbourne: Hanover Welfare Services.
- **135.** Parkinson S. (2012). The journey to social inclusion project in practice: A process evaluation of the first 18 months. Melbourne: AHURI Research Centre, RMIT University.
- 136. Morrissey J, Ellis AR. (2005) Outcomes for women with co-occurring disorders and trauma: Program and person-level effects *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*. 28(2):121-133.
- **137.** Cocozza JJ, Jackson EW, Hennigan K, Morrissey JP, Reed BG, Fallot R, Banks S. (2005) Outcomes for women with co-occurring disorders and trauma: Program-level effects *Journal of Substance Abuse Treatment*. *28*(2):109-119.
- **138.** Rog DJ, Holupka CS, McCombs-Thornton KL. (1995) Implementation of the Homeless Families Program 1. Service Models and Preliminary Outcomes *American Journal of Orthopsychiatry*. *65(4)*:502-513.
- **139.** Prescott L, Soares P, Konnath K, Bassuk EL. (2007). *A long journey home: A guide for creating trauma-informed services for homeless mothers and children*. Rockville, MD: Centre for Mental Health Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- **140.** Youth on Fire Trauma Centre at JRI. (2007). *Phoenix rising: A trauma-informed approach to HIV/substance use/hepititis prevention for homeless and street involved youth.*
- **141.** Guarino K, Soares P, Konnath K. (2007). *Trauma-informed organisational self-assessment for programs serving families experiencing homelessness*. Rockville, MD: Centre for Mental Health Services, Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- **142.** Hopper EK, Spinazzola J. (2006). *Trauma-informed facility assessment.* Brookline, MD: The Trauma Centre at Justice Resource Institute.